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The New Orpheum Theatre, constructed in 1927-28, stands at the southwest corner of 
Main and Beale Streets in downtown Memphis. Designed by the architectural firm of 
C. W. and George L. Rapp t it is the city's largest and finest "movie palace." As 
such it is characterized by the opulence and grandeur which were typical of this 
building type.

Although the building now stands alone in a block leveled by the urban renewal 
projects of the 1960s, this location was originally the heart of the South Main 
Street commercial district. The once prestigious corner site is still marked by 
the large illuminated upright sign, with its recently restored "Orpheum" logo in 
yellow letters on a red field.

The east and north facades, facing Main and Beale Streets respectively, may be best 
described as Italian Renaissance in style. At the first floor level the facade is 
terra cotta granite. The buff brick masonry above the first floor is set in a 
diaper pattern on the house portion to the rear of the building. The two-story front 
portion is divided into three bays along the Main Street side. The two side bays 
contain retail commercial space at ground level with copper-framed plate glass 
storefronts. The second floor contains theater office space. Ornamentation at this 
level consists of molded terra cotta window lintels and cornices. The center bay is 
higher than the two side bays and is set slightly forward for emphasis. At the 
second floor three high-arched windows with lunettes, four medallions, a cornice, 
and balustrade, all in terra cotta, further emphasize the center bay. At the street 
level is located the main theater entrance sheltered by the marquise with its 
"waterfall and scroll" light display and illuminated metal soffit. The main box 
office and entrance foyer materials include black marble, cast iron pilasters, 
and terrazzo flooring. Originally a second entrance and box office were located on 
the Beale Street side with a separate stairway to the uppermost gallery.

The main entrance foyer opens into the lobby with its grand staircase to the mez­ 
zanine floor. The lobby walls are travertine with damask panels. Two ornate 
crystal chandeliers are suspended from the plaster ceiling with its gold and ivory 
relief work. The original terrazzo floor has been covered with carpeting. Later 
alterations also include large pink-tinted mirrors on the upper east wall of the 
lobby and a concession booth.

From the lobby circulation is channeled either up to the mezzanine floor, straight 
through to the orchestra level of the auditorium or down to the lower level. On 
the lower level are located the large lounge with its Art Deco etched glass lighting 
fixtures, coat rooms, and restrooms.

The main auditorium, measuring one hundred ten feet by ninety-six feet deep, 
originally contained seating for 2,800 patrons and was the largest privately owned 
performance hall in the city. Twin loges, eacti tliree stories in height and 
accented with massive crystal chandeliers, frame the proscenium. The original rose 
and green draperies and damask wall panels remain. So does the original Wilton 
carpet with its black, red, and green figures on the floor, a large cove-lit dome 
dominates the ornate molded plaster ceiling. Concealed from view are the great 
steel roof trusses from which is suspended the entire ceiling assembly.
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Four levels of balconies cantilever out into the auditorium space. Access to each 
is gained from a separate foyer richly decorated with crystal chandeliers and heavy 
draperies. Each level is provided with its own lounges and restrooms. High above 
all the balcony levels is located the projection booth with its three carbon-arc 
projectors, Benograph, spotlight, and Stereopticon slide projector.

Designed for both live theater and motion pictures, the stage and backstage areas 
of the Orpheum Theatre include facilities for a wide variety of performance types. 
The original Master System switchboard controls both stage and house lights, as well 
as the automatic vaudeville annunciator boards located at either side of the prosce­ 
nium. The union grid fly system is still operable and many of the original Keith- 
Albee-Orpheum Circuit sets and backdrops remain. Behind the thirty foot by ninety 
foot stage are fourteen dressing rooms on three floor levels. Below the stage are 
located storerooms, rehearsal rooms, switchboard relays and mechanical equipment 
rooms. Access is also provided to the orchestra pit. Here is located the organ 
console, installed on its own elevator lift which allows the organist to rise 
dramatically from the pit into full view of the audience.

When new, the house organ was the largest theater organ in Memphis. Manufactured 
by the Rudolph Wurlitzer Company, it is a style 240, thirteen rank instrument, 
opus 1956. The pipes are located in two chambers above the loges, at balcony level. 
Repaired in 1969-70, it is currently in good working order.

In the Orpheum basement are located the main mechanical equipment rooms. The twin 
boilers are still operable although the original air conditioning has been replaced 
by a new system.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The New Orpheum Theatre is Memphis 1 largest and finest "movie palace" of the 1920s 
and represents the only local example of the work of C. W. and George L.. Rapp, 
Architects. In addition to its architectural significance the building has long 
played a major role in the social and cultural life of the city as the setting for 
both live theater and motion pictures.

In 1927 construction began on a new 2,800 seat theater which was to be the latest 
in the Keith-Albee-Orpheum Circuit's nationwide chain of vaudeville and motion picture 
playhouses. Located at the corner of Main and Beale streets in downtown Memphis, the 
New Orpheum replaced the original Orpheum Theatre (first known as the Grand Opera 
House) which occupied the site from 1890 until its destruction by fire in 1923.

The New Orpheum was designed by the Chicago architectural firm of C. W. and George L. 
Rapp, who were well known for the grandeur and opulence of their theaters. Among 
the many other movie palaces across the country designed by Rapp and Rapp are included 
the Paramount Theatre in New York, the Tivoli, the Oriental, and the Uptown in Chicago, 
and the Tivoli in Chattanooga. . ,

The 1928 oepning night performance at the New Orpheum was. preceded by an address by 
Mayor Watkins Overton, a recital on the Wurlitzer organ, and an overture by the 
theater orchestra.- The .main program consisted of a series of vaudeville acts followed 
by a showing of The Outcast starring Corinne Griffith.

The decline of vaudeville, as well as financial and managerial problems, plagued the 
New Orpheum during the 1930s. Nevertheless the theater presented many of the best 
known live entertainers of the day to Memphis audiences. Appearing on stage during 
these years were Eddie Cantor, George tlessel, Louis Armstrong, Duke Ellington, the 
Mills Brothers, the Folies Bergere, Sally Rand, and Milton Slosser at the organ.

In 1935, under new management, the theater name was changed to The Malco. It continued 
to be operated under this name, primarily as a first-run motion picture theater, until 
the 1970s. Live presentations continued to be offered from time to time including Hair 
and No, No, Nanette in 1972.

In 1976, as part of a plan to revive the southern end of the downtown area, the theater 
was purchased by the Memphis Development Foundation and renamed the Orpheum. Current 
plans call for its renovation and restoration as a performing arts center.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The property nominated is a 110' by 200' lot located on the southwest corner of 
Main Street and Beale Street.
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"Orpheum Manager Returns with Shows," The Comercial Appeal, February 20, 1933. 

"Orpheum May Take Rest," The Commercial Appeal, June 1, 1935.

"Orpheum Reopens on September 30 with New Stage, Screen Policy," The Commercial 
Appeal, September 21, 1938.

"Orpheum Rich in Tradition, Gains in Property Value," The Commercial Appeal, September 
14, 1930.

"Orpheum Will Start Building in 10 Days," The Commercial Appeal, October 27, 1927.

Rapp, C. W. and George L., Architects, "Orpheum Theatre Building," (architectural 
plans), January-February 1928.


